
1 

APPROVED MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
CITY OF WYOMING, MINNESOTA 

MAY 22, 2018 
7:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER: 

Planning Commission Chairman Engstrom called the Regular Meeting of the Wyoming Planning 
Commission of May 22, 2018 to order at 7:00 P.M. 

CALL OF ROLL: 

On a Call of the Roll the following members of the Wyoming Planning Commission were present: 
Judy Coughlin, Matthew Engstrom, and Mark Lobermeier 

Members Absent: Dennis Schilling 

Also Present: Council Liaison Lisa Iverson, Zoning Administrator Fred Weck and Eric Zweber, WSB. 

DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM: 

Chairman Engstrom determined a quorum was present. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

OPEN FORUM: 

“An opportunity for members of the public to address the Planning Commission on items not on the 
current Agenda.  Items requiring Planning Commission action maybe deferred to staff for research 
and future Planning Commission Agendas if appropriate.” 

No members of the public spoke. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. Consider approving the minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Wyoming, Minnesota 
Planning Commission for May 8, 2018. 

A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER ENGSTROM, TO APPROVE THE “REGULAR MEETING” 
MINUTES OF THE WYOMING, MINNESOTA PLANNING COMMISSION FOR MAY 8, 2018. 

Voting Aye: Coughlin, Engstrom 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: Lobermeier 

SCHEDULED PUBLIC HEARINGS:  

2. None.  

 NEW BUSINESS: 

3. Sketch Plan:   D-18-002 “Greenwood at Carlos Avery”, PAXMAR, LLC 

     PID’s of 21.00012.00, 21.10302.00, 21,10311,00,   
     21.10312.00, 21.10302.10, 21.103111.10, 21.00009.30,  
     21.10302.20, 21.10311.20, 21.10298.30, 21.10302.30, and 
     21.10298.40 

Eric Zweber. WSB gave a brief overview of the proposed sketch plan for Greenwood at Carlos Avery, 
which would include 271 homes spread through five different types of lot sizes.  There is also a plan 
for 100 apartments, a hotel and 50 acres of commercial use.  He noted that there is quite a bit of 



2 

wetlands located throughout the site.  He reviewed the two different types of setbacks they are 
requesting for the residential lots.  He noted that for the 65- and 70-foot wide lots, they are requesting 
a 5-foot garage side setback and a 10-foot house side setback and for the other lots that are 45- to 
60-foot wide lots, they are requesting 5-foot setbacks for both the garage and the house.  He stated 
that the City Code currently has 10-foot side yard setbacks for all the districts.  He stated that there 
are about 2 acres of wetland and about 8 acres of mitigation.  He reviewed the map that showed the 
floodplain report from the AE2S.  He stated that an Environmental Assessment Worksheet (EAW) 
will be completed for this project.  He stated that some of the questions they have for the Planning 
Commission is whether this is the proper mix for the development, if they are comfortable with the 5-
foot setbacks for some of the lots, whether they were comfortable with the 1.5-acre public park and 
the remaining portion of the parkland dedication being a fee in lieu of parkland.    

Mark Anderson, Sambatek, introduced himself and stated that he was here representing PAXMAR, 
LLC.  He noted that the land is owned by Ken Roessler and is being used primarily for agriculture 
and open space.  He stated that they had presented a similar plan to the City about a year ago and 
since then have taken a closer look at the floodplain elevations of the property and this plan has been 
approved by the DNR.  He stated that there will probably not be any activity taking place on the site 
until this time next year in order to complete the EAW and other necessary background work.   

Commissioner Lobermeier noted that there was an All Board meeting last week with the Urban Land 
Institute and one of the things they looked at was the location of the hotel relative to some of the 
commercial properties.  He understands that where it is shown in the sketch plan provides visibility 
from the freeway, but asked if there was flexibility in their placement because there may be some 
other issues to consider with how that fits into the area.  He asked if there was a target market for 
the commercial sites.    

Mr. Anderson stated that there are no users yet and has not been actively marketed, at this point, 
but there has been interest expressed by both residential and commercial.  He stated that they are 
open to comments about placement of the apartments and hotels and this plan will certainly evolve 
as they work with the wetlands and the floodplain as well.  He stated that for the commercial needs, 
there may be some local needs, but he feels much of it will be driven by the highway needs and 
people traveling.  He stated that they currently show more density with smaller lots near the highway 
which is fairly typical, so the higher value lots with more land are further away from the highway and 
back up to the ponds and wetland areas.  He stated that some of the higher profile buildings may 
also help mitigate sound from the highway for the properties further back, as well.   

Planning Commissioner Lobermeier stated that it looks as though they have rerouted the ditch to 
deal with the floodplain issue and asked if this was a public ditch. 

Mr. Anderson noted that the realignment of the ditch is just to put it in a better place for the 
development.  It currently bisects the development and the rerouting pushes it to the outer edge.  He 
understands that they will have to get permits in order to do this, but his understanding is it is a private 
ditch. 

Planning Commissioner Lobermeier stated that there appear to be ponds that will be called lakes 
and asked if they will hold water because the plans disturb the hydrology of the water that would 
normally flow through them by changing the ditch to flow around the site.   

Mr. Anderson stated that there are sandy conditions out there, but there is also a fairly high 
groundwater table, so they will have water in them.  He stated that plans are for the ponds to be 
connected to the ditch as part of the floodplain mitigation.  He stated that they are planning to have 
this modeled in order to get City, DNR and FEMA approval.   

Alan Roessler asked if Commissioner Lobermeier disliked the location of the hotel.   

Commissioner Lobermeier stated that he didn’t necessarily dislike it, it was a question of whether 
you want a hotel that looks over the freeway or that takes advantages of some of the amenities that 
you are looking at by putting it a little further back on the property.   



3 

Mr. Roessler stated that the hotel site is the one that he has had the most interest in and that seems 
to be the preferred location because of the visibility and within walking distance of the café.   

Commissioner Coughlin asked about the current houses in the area and whether they will come out 
as part of this development.   

Mr. Anderson stated that this will be a phased project and thinks a fairly large area will be graded as 
part of the project, so he suspects those homes will stay there for a while.  He stated that his exact 
answer is that they don’t know yet because they haven’t figured out the phases or the grading 
necessary.   

Commissioner Coughlin asked if the homeowners for those existing parcels had been spoken to and 
were willing to vacate. 

Mr. Roessler stated that they own all of those parcels and are currently being rented out.   

Commissioner Coughlin noted that there are a lot of trees and asked if they were familiar with the 
Tree Preservation Plan and thought about how that would impact this development. 

Mr. Anderson stated that they have not completed a tree survey yet, but realize that for residential 
development, trees add value.  They are planning to save them whenever practical.  

Commissioner Coughlin noted that the planned parkland space is not near any of their other parks.  
She stated that because of the amount of housing planned, she wonders if the City needs a larger 
park to serve all those families.  She hopes that this thought gets passed along to the Park Board to 
consider.  She stated that she feels the 5-foot setbacks seem small to her and asked about house 
prices for the smaller lots. 

Mr. Roessler stated that he feels those houses will be 2-3 bedrooms and 2-3 car garages in the 
$200,000 -$300,000 range. 

Commissioner Coughlin noted that for the apartments, it appears that they will have a view of the 
parking lot or a hotel.  She wonders if the views will affect the marketability.  She asked about the 
phasing and the grading. 

Mr. Anderson noted that for the commercial pads are more marketable if they have sewer, water and 
street access, so it is market driven.  He noted that he didn’t think this commercial area will take too 
long because it has great visibility and access to the Twin Cities.   

Mr. Roessler stated that in looking at utilities, the water is going to have to come from the east side 
of 35W, so the plans are to develop the commercial and residential at the same time. 

Commissioner Coughlin stated that the Commission just learned last week that the City needs more 
housing. 

Mr. Anderson asked if the City had a formal housing study and suggested taking a look at it as part 
of their planning process.  He stated that they really want to have the right mix so he expects this 
plan to evolve.   

Commissioner Coughlin confirmed that there were sidewalks included alongside all the roads.  She 
asked about the PUD process and density requirements. 

Chair Engstrom stated that it would be good for them to look at the Chisago County housing study.  
He remembers that there was a need for affordable housing to help people afford to live and work in 
the area.  He asked if there are examples in existence with the lot size and setbacks to help the 
Commission envision what they are planning a bit better. 

Mr. Roessler stated that he will get examples to the City Administrator.  He stated that they are 
looking at higher end housing in the western portion and more affordable options closer to the 
commercial area.  He said if the City would like them to look at included townhomes, they would 
prefer a detached style, would be the reasoning for the smaller setback as well.  

Chair Engstrom asked about concerns with polluting the groundwater. 



4 

Mr. Anderson stated that stormwater will have a pre-treatment basin which is part of the standard 
design.  He stated that is not unusual to have a groundwater lake and gave the example of Arbor 
Lakes in Maple Grove.  He stated that this is something that will be addressed with the EAW.    

Chair Engstrom asked about approval from Chisago County on the access points.  He believes the 
last time this plan was discussed there were plans to realign Kettle River Boulevard.  He stated that 
he thinks the County may have some issues with their access plans.   

Mr. Roessler agrees that the intersection is less than ideal. 

Chair Engstrom asked what the City could do to help clean up the access and intersection issues.  
He thinks this is an opportunity for the City to clean things up a little.   

Mr. Anderson assured the Commission that there will be a traffic study completed as part of the EAW. 

Commissioner Coughlin asked if this would be an appropriate place for a roundabout, but questioned 
who would put it in, the developer or the County. 

Mr. Anderson stated that he wasn’t sure, but noted that roundabouts tend to do better when there 
are not equal traffic amounts on all 4 legs so there can be an easier flow of traffic.  He stated that he 
would be surprised if a roundabout was the solution, but the possibility isn’t off the table. 

Commissioner Coughlin asked how deep the two lakes will be. 

Mr. Anderson stated that it will be dictated by economics, so they aren’t sure.  He noted that the pad 
materials will be coming out of the lake, so he is guessing 4-6 feet, but possible deeper.   

Commissioner Coughlin asked if there was any recreational value, such as swimming. 

Mr. Anderson stated that would be a conversation for the Park Board if there is any possible use like 
swimming.   

Chair Engstrom stated that the commercial area appears to shows what will fit even though there 
isn’t an exact plan.   

Mr. Anderson stated this was accurate.  He stated that it looks like a hotel will make sense and a 
restaurant, but the market will help develop the final plan.  He stated that plans are just ballpark plans 
right now especially because of the wetlands.  

Chair Engstrom asked if the commercial area would work if the County limited or changed the access 
point. 

Mr. Anderson stated that he thinks there needs to be full access to Viking Boulevard in order for this 
to work.   

Mr. Roessler asked how the Commission felt about the density and the setback plans because when 
the project proceeds from here there will be significant investment, so he would hate to have to come 
back to the City and get the answer that those things wouldn’t be supported.   

Zoning Administrator Weck stated that the density basically comes out to be about 1 home/acre, so, 
in his opinion he doesn’t think the density is too out of line, in looking at the whole project.   

Commissioner Lobermeier stated that he liked the variation of lot sizes.   

Council Liaison Iverson asked if there was any thought about a few of the lots being larger than 
proposed.  She stated that she had also looked at some of the other developments and didn’t see 
any that had a commercial component.   

Mr. Roessler stated that they have incorporated commercial in a few different places.  He stated that 
a good example would be the Parkside North in Blaine, on the southeast corner of Lexington and 
Main Street.  He stated this will show the smaller setbacks and also includes some commercial such 
as a gas station and a church. 



5 

Council Liaison Iverson asked how long the land is kept waiting for commercial development to 
happen and what would happen to the land if it doesn’t sell for commercial purposes.     

Mr. Roessler stated that it is a bit of a chicken and egg scenario because commercial purchasers 
want homes in the area first.   

Council Liaison asked about what type of hotel would go in and if it would be a national chain. 

Mr. Roessler stated that they are open and have already talked to about 12 hoteliers.  He stated that 
there has been a lot of interest in this parcel. 

Commissioner Coughlin stated that she initially thought the smaller setback was too small, but in 
looking at detached or townhome development, which is more affordable, she thinks the smaller 
setback does fit with the plans.   

Chair Engstrom stated that he agreed and suggested including a sidewalk on both sides of the street 
in the commercial areas. 

Mr. Roessler stated that he appreciated the feedback from the Commission and noted how excited 
they are about the plans. 

 
4. Site Plan:    S-18-001, X-Treme Paint, Aaron Wachholz 
      PID 21.10293.00   
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he hadn’t had time to fully review the site plan, but thinks it is 
pretty straight forward.   
 
Aaron Wachholz stated that the septic site plan design and soil borings are in progress and should 
be completed by the end of the week.   
 
Council Liaison Iverson asked if Mr. Wachholz was simply expanding his business. 
 
Mr. Wachholz stated that this will be a different business than what he has right now.  He noted that 
currently he handles auto body repair and paint and plans to give up the current location.  The new 
location will be just marine and RV repair.  
 
Chair Engstrom noted that this location is next to the trail and asked about the possibility of including 
some screening along the trail, even though it isn’t a requirement.   
 
Mr. Wachholz stated that he will consider it because having a tree line would be nice to have for 
privacy from a business standpoint as well as screening the trail. 
 
Commissioner Lobermeier asked about lighting plans for the storage areas. 
 
Zoning Administrator Weck stated that the current plans are just for lighting on the building itself.   
 
Commissioner Lobermeier stated that it is a tough piece of property and he is glad someone has 
found a suitable use for it.   
 
Commissioner Coughlin asked about the number of planned parking spaces because the staff report 
and the drawings showed different numbers.   
 
Zoning Administrator Weck confirmed that the correct number was 28 parking spaces.   
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER LOBERMEIER, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, TO RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COUNCIL 



6 

APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED USE FOR SITE PLAN, S-18-001, X-TREME PAINT, BASED ON 
THE FINDINGS THAT THE STANDARDS FOR A COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT HAVE BEEN 
MET AND SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS OUTLINED IN THE STAFF REPORT.   
 
Voting Aye: Coughlin, Engstrom, Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 

OLD BUSINESS 

5. Interim Conditional Use Permit Scene Sign Corp. 

 Electronic Graphic Display Sign Wyoming Creative Arts Community 

      5621 East Viking Boulevard 

A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER LOBERMEIER, TO REMOVE THIS ITEM FROM BEING 
TABLED AND OPENED BACK UP FOR DISCUSSION. 

Voting Aye: Coughlin, Engstrom, Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 

Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he tried to address the issues that were raised at the last 
meeting in his staff report.   

Commissioner Lobermeier noted that he missed the discussion that took place at the last meeting, 
but, has read the minutes and the staff report and it appears to be in conformance.  

Commissioner Coughlin stated that she thinks it comes back to a question of whether it is really a 
quasi-public use.  She noted that she had looked up a few definitions and read them aloud.  She 
reviewed the Carver County designations of either public or quasi-public and listed their examples. 
She gave other examples from the City of Ramsey, Hugo, and Shoreview.  She stated that this is 
where she is having difficulty because she is not sure this is really a quasi-public use.  She believes 
the City should support the arts community and can be a positive thing for our community.  She is 
struggling with whether the dynamic display sign would contain public service announcements and 
whether this is actually a quasi-public building.  She read aloud from the Interim Conditional Use 
Permit language.   

Chair Engstrom stated that quasi-public is only mentioned one time in the ordinance and it is not 
defined.  He stated that the Commission can look at other counties or cities, but the problem remains 
that the City does not have a definition for quasi-public.  He stated that he also has an issue with the 
word “interim”.  He thanked Zoning Administrator Weck for finding the table that was included in the 
packet.  He stated that in his mind interim implies temporary use and a temporary amount of time, 
similar to the Dirty Girl run.  He stated that he had looked back at how interim was defined in the 
code and it is a temporary use until a certain date.  He stated that in looking at this application, this 
is obviously not a temporary sign, it is a permanent $25,000 sign.  He looked up the State statutes 
and their definition of interim is also a temporary use.  He does not believe this is an interim use and 
asked how the art center was originally approved. 

Zoning Administrator Weck stated that it was essentially a continuation of the church use. 

Chair Engstrom stated that the way the code is structured has permitted, conditional and interim 
uses.  He reiterated that he has three issues with this:  1. He does not think this is an interim use.  2.  
The City does not have a definition for quasi-public.  3. Based on an interim conditional use permit, 
if the City decided next week to say that they are no longer allowed, it would have to be ripped out.  



7 

He stated that if it is not interim and it is not quasi-public, it is prohibited.  He recommends denying 
this request and then figure out what quasi-public means for future requests. 

Commissioner Lobermeier stated that he had not been a part of the discussion at the last meeting, 
but personally, is very comfortable with the terminology of quasi-public even though there is a lack 
of a written definition.  He believes that this use fits very well into what a quasi-public facility would 
be because it hosts public events.  He understands Chair Engstrom’s concerns about the use of the 
word interim but thinks it is basically in conformance with the code and the sign ordinance. 

Chair Engstrom stated that he disagreed because the Commission had a lengthy discussion about 
the importance of protecting residential areas and the context of the discussion was a 60 second 
refresh time.   

Commissioner Coughlin noted that the Council changed that to 8 seconds. 

Chair Engstrom stated that he thinks it is very important for the City to decide on a definition for quasi-
public. 

City Administrator Linwood stated that there have been multiple interim uses approved by the 
Commission and the Council where it is not a set pre-determined date but is based on the particular 
use.  He stated that in reference to the term quasi-public, that can be cherry picked either way.  

Chair Engstrom stated that the word quasi-public is undefined and he feels this is a big deal because 
it makes something prohibited allowed in a residential area.   He stated that he wants to do it right 
and have clear definitions before moving forward and doesn’t want to set a precedent that will cause 
trouble in our residential areas. 

Commissioner Coughlin asked how the Commission can take into account the location of the sign 
with regard to the surrounding area.   

Zoning Administrator Weck stated that an example would be limiting the hours of operation.  He gave 
some possible ideas of putting blinders on the sign.  He gave examples of where the City had 
approved interim use permits for a home occupation that was valid until the home was sold.   

Chair Engstrom stated that he has expressed his opinion but would like the Commission to talk about 
possible conditions that may make the use okay, if this ends up moving forward.  He suggested 
allowing the hours of operation be dusk to dawn or when the art center is open to the public. He 
stated that based on the resident comment from the last meeting that if this sign goes in, there 
shouldn’t be other signage allowed, such as banners. He reiterated that he is very uncomfortable 
with this because it is a permanent sign and the City has not taken the time to define the term quasi-
public and unless it is public or quasi-public, it is prohibited in a residential area. 

Commissioner Coughlin reiterated that according to code the sign should display non-commercial or 
public service announcements. 

Council Liaison Iverson stated that if the Commission wanted a definition for quasi-public, she asked 
if their pre-determined idea of what quasi is would affect their recommendation to the Council. 

Chair Engstrom stated that he feels this would need to have a public hearing because it would be a 
zoning amendment.  He stated that the other option besides defining the term quasi-public is to strike 
it from that section of the ordinance.   

Commissioner Coughlin noted that item #1 in staff recommendations should state that in needs to 
comply with “Section 40-752, a through e”.  She stated that she agreed with the 60 second duration 
recommendation before a change rather than changing every 8 seconds.   



8 

Mr. Peterson stated that they are not looking to do a flashing display and noted that they want to 
respect their neighbors.   

Zoning Administrator Weck stated that he agrees with what Mr. Peterson has stated, however, the 
arts center does have a Board and their thoughts and processes could change, so putting in a 
condition that clarifies how often a sign can refresh may be a good idea. 

Commissioner Coughlin stated that advertising for an event is not a non-commercial message 
because they are selling art. 

Mr. Peterson stated that they have no paid staff, just volunteers, but they need to have money coming 
in to continue to operate. 

Chair Engstrom reiterated that he has no problem with the art center and likes what they are doing 
in the community.  He stated that it is an issue with words and perhaps the sign should not be allowed 
in the residential area.   

Council Liaison Iverson stated that it appeared as though the Commission was moving forward with 
the idea that the Council is going to say yes to this application and ignore the recommendation of the 
Commission.  She asked if there was a compromise that could be made between the two entities. 

Chair Engstrom stated that he thinks the conditions the Commission is recommending be included 
is the compromise. 

Council Liaison Iverson explained that she was thinking more along the lines of something like 
instead of putting in the 60 second refresh time, or the 8 second refresh time, put in a 30 second 
refresh time that would be a compromise for both sides.   

Zoning Administrator Weck reviewed allowed uses in the sign ordinance. 

Commissioner Coughlin asked Mr. Peterson if he really felt this sign would provide a huge benefit 
because only a limited amount of people will drive down East Viking Boulevard. 

Mr. Peterson stated that they bring in artists from all over the Twin Cities and they bring guests up 
and the problem is people don’t see it.  He thinks the sign will help people find them.  He stated that 
their organization is being recognized throughout the State, but there are still people two blocks away 
that don’t know they are there.  He stated that when they put the banners out they are getting people 
walking in that didn’t know they were there.  He stated that Gene Hallberg is willing to donate the 
money to put the sign up and their purpose is to expose people in the area to the arts.    

Commissioner Coughlin stated that she supports the center and thinks it is a huge asset to the 
community, she just isn’t sure she supports a dynamic sign. 

Mr. Peterson reiterated that they have no intention of making it obnoxious.  

A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER LOBERMEIER TO 
RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF THE INTERIM USE PERMIT FOR THE 
FREESTANDING ELECTRONIC SIGN WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 

1. That the Applicant adjust the signage to comply with the standards set in section 40-
752, (12), (a). 

2. That the location of the proposed sign meet the 20 foot front lot line setback 
requirement set in section 40-749, (5), (c). 



9 

3. Upon the sale of the property the new owner will need to obtain a new interim 
conditional use permit for continued use of the sign or the sign will be required to be 
removed. 

4. Upon a change of use of the property the owner will need to obtain a new interim 
conditional use permit for continued use of the sign or the sign will be required to be 
removed. 

5. That operation of the sign be limited to the daylight hours between dawn and dusk; 
except while the Center is open to the public. 

6. That the message refresh rate be longer than eight (8) seconds; such refresh rate to 
be determined by the City Council. 

7. That no other signage is allowed on the property. 

8. The Applicant consent to the conditions set forth by the City Council. 

The Motion failed because of a lack of a second. 

A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER ENGSTROM, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION COUGHLIN, TO RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COUNCIL DENIAL OF 
THE INTERIM USE PERMIT FOR A FREESTANDING ELECTRONIC SIGN, BASED ON THE 
FOLLOWING FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The term Quasi-Public is not defined in the Zoning Ordinance 

2. That if the Hallberg Center for the Arts is not a quasi-public use the use of an electronic 
graphic display sign is prohibited. 

3. That whether the information that would be displayed on the sign could be considered 
only public service announcements or non-commercial messages. 

4. That the sign is not a temporary use. 

Voting Aye: Coughlin, Engstrom 
Voting Nay: Lobermeier 
Abstain: None 
 
Chair Engstrom reiterated to Mr. Peterson that he loves what they are doing at the art center, but the 
code needs to be followed and defined.  He asked that a discussion regarding the use of the term 
quasi-public be added to a future meeting.   
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
6. None. 
 
UPDATES: 
7. None. 

A MOTION WAS MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER LOBERMEIER, SECONDED BY 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER COUGHLIN, TO ADJOURN THE REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE WYOMING, MINNESOTA PLANNING COMMISSION FOR MAY 22, 2018 AT 9:08 P.M. 

Voting Aye: Coughlin, Engstrom, Lobermeier. 
Voting Nay: None 
Abstain: None 


